

Written Examination Study Guide

for the rank of

Lieutenant

in the

City of Buffalo Police Department

Copyright © 2017, IOS, Inc.



Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
Welcome!	4
Contents of This Guide	6
The Job-Knowledge Examination	7
Format of the Job-Knowledge Examination	7
General Study Guidelines	9
Importance of Reading the Study Material	9
Note Taking or Other Documentation Techniques	9
Study with a Partner/Group	10
Answer Practice Questions	10
Study the Material	11
Keeping Organized	11
Scheduling	12
Individual Study	13
Developing a Study Plan	13
Goal Setting	14
SQ3R Study Method	14
Memorization	15
One-On-One Studying	16
Study Techniques	16
Things to Keep In Mind	16
Group Study	17
Characteristics of Effective Study Groups	17
Starting a Study Group: The first meeting	17

Conducting the Study Group	18
Additional Study Tips	19
General Test-taking Strategies	20
Using the Test Answer Sheet	22
Helpful Hints about the Exam	23
Preparing for Test Day	24
Preparation for the exam	24
Your physical well-being	24
Arrive early	24
Confidence	24
Attitude	24
Basic Rules Governing the Testing Process	25

Welcome!

Welcome to the 2017 study guide for the City of Buffalo Police Department.

The purpose of this guide is to prepare you for the job-knowledge examination. We highly recommend you follow the guidelines and use the preparation tips provided in this guide.

Good Luck!

Introduction

I/O Solutions (IOS) has been retained to develop the sergeant and lieutenant written examinations for the City of Buffalo Police Department. IOS is a public safety consulting firm located in the suburban Chicago area. The firm works exclusively with public safety clients (police, fire, sheriff's departments, correctional facilities, etc.) to develop, validate and implement promotional and entry-level selection processes. Our clients include the Houston Police Department, San Antonio Police Department, Dallas Police and Fire Department, Austin Police and Fire Department, Buffalo Police and Fire Department, Cincinnati Police and Fire Department, Indianapolis Metro Police and Indianapolis Fire, Minneapolis Police Department, Omaha Police and Fire Department, St. Louis Metro Police Department, Chicago Police, Fire and Chicago OEMC Department, Milwaukee Fire Department, Nashville Police and Fire, Tulsa Police and Fire Department, Albuquerque Police and Fire Department, Miami Police Department, Atlanta Police Department, Jacksonville County Police Department, Baltimore Police and Fire Department, San Diego Police Department, San Francisco Police and Fire Department, San Jose Fire Department, Raleigh Police Department, Illinois State Police, Massachusetts State Police and many more! IOS has worked with the city of Buffalo for approximately 10 years in developing promotional testing and entry-level (pre-hire) testing.

IOS has several goals in developing written promotional examinations for the City of Buffalo. First and foremost, the examinations must be valid, fair and legally defensible. A valid examination is **relevant** to the department and position in question, measures the critical knowledge, skills and abilities necessary for promotion, and aids the department in selecting highly qualified individuals for promotion. Also, the process should conform to appropriate legal guidelines regarding the selection and testing of candidates. In addition, the process should treat all candidates with dignity and respect, and rules should be fairly and equitably applied.

Contents of This Guide

This Orientation and Preparation Guide has been prepared to introduce you to the written promotional examination for the City of Buffalo Police Department. The first thing you can do to prepare for the examination is to read this study guide. This guide will familiarize you with the written examination process and provide you with general information about subsequent selection hurdles. Following are the sections that this guide will cover:

- Information on the format and structure of the exam
- General advice on how to study for the written examination
- The development of a study plan
- General preparation guidelines
- Test-taking principles
- Use of the answer sheet

The Job-Knowledge Examination

The written job-knowledge examination will <u>likely</u> consist of 100-items that are multiple-choice in nature. Thus, each item will consist of the stem (the actual question) and four response options.

Typical sources for such examinations include Department Policy & Procedures, Department Orders, Department Rules and Regulations, external management readings, external law enforcement readings and other external professional reading (i.e., investigative book for detectives). We have evaluated job analysis information for the positions in question, considered other law enforcement agencies and their approach to promotional testing (i.e., benchmarking) and considered past practices to help identify the written job-knowledge sources (e.g., specific policies, procedures, etc.) and develop the written examination items. The draft item pool may be reviewed with SMEs or I/O psychologists with expertise in promotional test development for large law enforcement agencies to ensure the examination and content is specific to the Buffalo Police Department.

Format of the Job-Knowledge Examination

A job-knowledge exam consists of questions/items that are based on pre-specified resource materials; they cover material that is deemed important to successful performance on the job. For more information regarding the pre-specified resource materials for your examination, please refer to the official reading list supplied by your department. Nearly all IOS examinations are closed-book and this examination will be closed book as well. Job-knowledge items are typically constructed in a multiple-choice format. In the case of this exam, this means that there is one correct answer option and three incorrect answer options. Your goal is to select the correct response from the four possible options.

The following is an example of a job-knowledge item. This item was taken from a previous job-knowledge examination and is presented as an "example item" to help you better understand the basic structure of the examination:

- I. Eyewitness identification and description are regarded to be the most _____ form of evidence due to the fact that human perception and memory are _____ functions.
 - a. reliable; selective
 - b. accurate: constructive
 - c. valid; focused
 - d. unreliable; selective

Answer:

Eyewitness descriptions are not considered to be very reliable forms of evidence in criminal proceedings. If you know that eyewitness descriptions are unreliable, you have a good chance of answering this question correctly. In order to fill in the first blank, you must find a word that indicates that eyewitness descriptions are unreliable, inaccurate or "flawed." You can immediately eliminate answer options "a," "b" and "c" because these imply the opposite concerning the reliability of eyewitness descriptions. You are left with answer option "d," which indicates that eyewitness descriptions are "unreliable" and that this is caused by "selective" memory functions. This answer makes the most sense and (most importantly) is the only truly correct answer according to the pre-specified source material. Therefore, D is the correct answer.

General Study Guidelines

As alluded to previously, it will be absolutely necessary to thoroughly read and review all examination source materials and study for the examination to increase your chances of performing well. There are many proven methods of study that can enhance your performance when applied appropriately. It should be noted that different methods work better for certain individuals. The following provides a few brief suggestions on methods of preparation for the exam.

Importance of Reading the Study Material

It is critical for candidates to read all of the study material thoroughly. One goal in the test development process is to identify the relevant job knowledge someone needs upon promotion. Therefore, this study material was chosen by subject matter experts within your department to target important job-knowledge areas associated with successful performance. Subsequently, IOS develops all examination questions directly from the identified source material. Thus, becoming familiar with the source material can significantly improve your exam score.

Many candidates simply fail to read (or study) the examination material and conduct little or no preparation for the written examination. IOS has conducted extensive research on the relationship between candidate study habits and test performance. The single greatest factor impacting candidate performance is examination preparation. In particular, simply reading the sources has a substantial impact on test performance. In our research, candidates who simply read the examination sources pass the examination (when a cut score is utilized) at a rate of 80%. In contrast, those candidates who fail to read the source material pass at a rate of 30%. Simply reading the examination material can put you in a position to be promoted depending on the specifics of your promotional process!

Note Taking or Other Documentation Techniques

Many individuals find it helpful to take notes on the important material during the course of their reading. With this method, you can put the author's ideas into your own words, which will be easier for you to recall at a later date. Another similar study method involves making "flashcards" on 3" x 5" note cards. The goal of either method is to condense the amount of reading material to the most important and relevant aspects of the source. Also, your goal should be to make this material understandable in your own words. For example, read a section of policy/orders (e.g.) and take some time to decipher the meaning of the code. Then, in your own words, explain the nature and meaning of the policy/order in your notes or flashcards. With either method, you should be prepared to spend some time studying the notes or flashcards in the weeks prior to the exam.

When reading the source materials, you may also want to highlight information that you think is particularly important with a highlighter/marker. Later, as the exam date approaches, you can review the highlighted material. If done properly, this method could supplant note taking and will take far less time than preparing notes or flash cards.

Study with a Partner/Group

Many individuals find it helpful to study with a partner or group of individuals who are also preparing for the exam. This way you can discuss the material with them, determine what the most important material is and analyze difficult concepts. In addition, study groups can divide duties and prepare brief summaries on the reading material to share with other group members. You might try preparing brief summaries or having various group members describe a particular issue or section of the reading material in an informal presentation. Explaining and describing material to others is a great way to learn the material yourself!

If you have found that you study most effectively by yourself in the past, then try to limit the amount of time you will spend studying with a partner or group. If on the other hand you have found that studying with others helps you quite a bit, then form a study group with other people who are taking the same examination as you. You may find that forming a study group has another important benefit—your commitment to studying may increase (you do not want to let your team down) and thus you may be more focused and motivated in your efforts! More information about studying with a partner or group is provided below.

Answer Practice Questions

If a practice test is available on a particular subject, you should take the time to complete it. If there is not one available, there are several other methods of preparation to help you in answering exam questions. First, if the source material has "questions for review" at the end of each chapter (e.g., if using a textbook), you should try to answer these questions immediately after reading the material. In addition, once you have completed a section of material, you can review the material and try to determine what questions might be asked of you on an examination. You should be able to answer these questions once you have read the material.

If you have assembled a study group, you can prepare practice questions as part of your group efforts. There is no need to focus on the specifics of item construction. You can simply create basic test questions with a single correct answer and multiple response options. Most of the examination questions will follow this basic structure. If your study group has divided up the test content for analysis, you can ask individuals to develop practice questions for their area of focus.

This study guide also contains a brief set of practice questions in Appendix A. You should certainly attempt to answer the questions. It might be prudent to attempt to answer the questions before you begin studying for the exam. You can then document your score. Then, in the final stages of examination preparation, you should take this brief practice test again to see if your performance has improved.

Study the Material

This may seem rather evident, but there are two steps to studying. First, you must read the material. Then, you must review the material at a later time. While we often call the entire process "studying", this review phase is really at the heart of the study period. This may involve reviewing notes, highlighted portions of the material, creating and reviewing flashcards, conducting group study sessions or completely re-reading the source. Regardless, there should be at least one review of the material to gain understanding and help with recall when the actual test occurs. It may go without saying, but if you spend time taking notes, making flashcards or highlighting during your initial reading/study phase, you should then spend time reviewing this material before the exam. For example, if you choose to highlight important material from the text, you should spend some time the week before the exam reviewing the highlighted passages. This may involve reading the highlighted sections several times.

One common mistake that occurs on occasion results when candidates spend a great deal of time preparing notes or flash cards and then misallocate their preparation time and do not allow enough time to review this important material. You should look at the development of these materials as an investment. You must allow for time at the end of the study period to recoup the cost of your investment (i.e., your time) such that you spend time reviewing this important material.

Keeping Organized

Once all of the suggested materials have been collected, you will have a lot of information to sift through. In order to keep track of all of these materials, organization will be key.

To help with organization, follow these guidelines. They will help you compile the information into meaningful groups.

- 1. Put all the materials in front of you and begin separating them by topic. For example, put all response procedure related materials in one pile and all leadership related materials in another pile. Group the materials in whatever way is most meaningful and helpful to you.
- 2. Find some method to hold these materials in their respective groups. This can be a large binder or folder.
- 3. On each folder create a table of contents. This will make it easier to find what you are looking for.
- 4. Use bookmarks, tabs, or sticky notes to mark specific information you wish to reference.
- 5. If you remove a piece of material make sure to replace it or update your table of contents to reflect the move.

Scheduling

Now that you have set your goals and organized your materials, it is time to set a schedule for yourself. This schedule will keep you on track and help keep yourself accountable for your progress.

Here are some steps for creating a successful schedule:

- Make your schedule practical! Many people will set an unrealistic timeline and then become discouraged when they cannot make the deadlines.
- Allow yourself enough time to study each topic.
- Prioritize. Start with the most challenging and important topics.
- Schedule short but frequent study times. Try to keep blocks of study time to 2 hours or less.
- If you are planning to study with a group make sure to set a schedule that everyone can adhere to.

Individual Study

Developing a Study Plan

A typical designated study period is approximately 90 days. It is in the best interests of the candidate to use the entire study period to prepare for the examination- this means beginning your preparations immediately! Typically, a candidate will use the initial portion of the study period to read the material and highlight, take notes or make flashcards. Thus, for a 90 day study period, a candidate may spend the first 60-70 days reading all of the source material. The final three to four weeks might be spent reviewing notes or other study material and re-reading important sections of the source material.

Typically, candidates can read 15-30 pages of textbook material or department policy in an hour. In contrast, candidates can usually read approximately 10-20 pages of highlighting usually doesn't add any significant time to the reading period although taking notes and/or developing flashcards can add a significant amount of time. Taking detailed notes will probably slow an individual to approximately 10-20 pages per hour (textbook material). While this process may slow your progress through the material, good notes can be invaluable to the study process.

Given the guidelines above, you should estimate the overall time it will take to read all of the source materials for the exam and then plan your study process accordingly. For example, you may determine that you have approximately 400 pages of text/department policy to read and 200 pages of highly technical material. You might estimate that you can read 15 pages of text per hour and approximately 10 pages of the technical material per hour. Thus, you estimate that you will need to spend approximately 47 hours to simply read the source material. In addition, you have decided you will highlight relevant material and make flash cards on critical information. Thus, you estimate that the time to progress through all of the source material and create the flash cards will increase the reading/study period by approximately 150 percent. Therefore, you determine it will take approximately 117 hours to read, highlight and take notes on all of the source material (47 hours to simply read and another 70 hours to take detailed notes and create the flash cards). If you spend the first 12 weeks on reading the source material and preparing these materials, you will have to spend approximately 10 hours a week on your preparation. You might decide to devote two off-days per week to examination preparation, such that you nearly spend a full day reading and preparing materials for your study and review.

Finally, you should spend some time studying the material before the exam. It is a good idea to use the last few weeks before the exam to review the material thoroughly, study and memorize critical facts. During this time period, you may up your preparation to 2-3 days per week devoted to the examination.

The study plan outlined above represents the minimum of what might be required of you to obtain a "reasonable" score. In a competitive process, such a study plan for an "average test-taker" may not result in a score sufficient enough be promoted in the promotional process. Thus, you may need to do more to prepare for this examination! Ultimately, the decision on how much time to use in preparing for the examination will rest with you based on your motivation and comfort level.

Goal Setting

In preparing for the examination, you will be exposed to a large amount of study materials. Using goal setting, you can develop a process to successfully navigate these materials in an efficient and effective manner.

Goal setting is the process of taking a broad goal, such as passing the examination, into smaller, specific, and manageable goals. This method has been shown to increase motivation and retention of knowledge.

To use this tool:

- I. Determine your overall goal.
- 2. Break this overall goal down into small and specific goals.
- 3. Write down all of your goals someplace you can easily find for your study period.
- 4. Rank the goals in order of need. Think of it like a pyramid. What things do you need to learn first in order to better understand subsequent information?
- 5. Set the time frame in which you plan to achieve each goal (i.e. 2 days or 1 week).
- 6. Determine how you will achieve each goal. What materials will you need? What is the best way to learn the material relevant to this goal?
- 7. Keep track of your progress on each goal.

SQ3R Study Method

The acronym SQ3R stands for the five sequential techniques that have been used as a strategy to enhance the understanding and retention of reading material. This strategy includes the following steps:

• Survey. Start by gathering the information necessary to focus your understanding of the chapter. Read the chapter title, read the chapter introduction, section summaries, and conclusion, scan through the contents of the chapter (e.g., section headings, diagrams, and pictures). If studying policy, procedure or department orders, you can read the introductory paragraphs and spend time scanning through the policy to gain an understanding of the material before you begin to delve into the specific details of the material. Aim to gain an overall understanding of the structure of the material and how the main concepts are related.

- Question. Go through each section of the material and turn the headings into questions
 that you think will be answered in that section. Write your questions down on a piece
 of paper. In the next step when you begin reading the sections, you will write down
 your answers that go along with each question. The purpose of this step is to help you
 become actively engaged in the reading by having you seek the answers to the questions
 that you have formed.
- Read. Reach through each section, keeping the questions you have formed in mind.
 Read the section, seeking information to answer the questions that you have written down. Pay attention to determine if there are any other questions that need to be included.
- **R**ecall. When you have completed reading through a section, stop and try to answer the questions you have composed without looking back at the reading material. If you cannot come up with the answers, go back to the section as many times as you need to until you can answer your questions from memory.
- Review. After you have completed reading through all of the sections using the aforementioned steps, you should continue going over the questions you have created and trying to answer them from memory. If you cannot answer them, you can look back to the material to refresh your memory and then continue to review. Review the material often in the weeks and days leading up to the exam.

Memorization

There is certain material that must be memorized for an exam. While, for example, we can advocate reading and taking notes in your own words, it is important to understand that some material must be memorized directly from the source. IOS writes exam questions directly from the source material and often uses the wording as it appears in the source material. Thus, recalling the specific information from the passage can be critical in determining your success on the exam.

One-On-One Studying

Studying with a partner is a great way to cover a lot of information. One of the most important steps in one-on-one studying is choosing the right study partner. When choosing a partner, try to select someone who shares similar study habits as you. Make sure that the partner also has a similar level of motivation and similar pace of learning as you. Finally, make sure you select a partner who is studying the same material as you.

Study Techniques

- You can each cover a different topic and then spend time explaining them to one another.
- You and your partner can study the same material then create questions to quiz each other.
- A partner can be helpful when you are having a hard time understanding a subject; use their different perspective to help look at the information in a different way.

Things to Keep In Mind

- If you decide to split up topics and explain them to one another, be sure to still read through the material that was assigned to your study partner.
- When quizzing each other, try to focus on the major topics from the source material, rather than focusing on highly specific information unless that is the nature of the material (e.g., learning definitions to terminology).
- It can be easy to get off-track with side conversations, try to stay focused on the material for the exam.

Group Study

Studying with a group can be a very effective way to cover a lot of information. However, this effectiveness is dependent on the members of the group.

Characteristics of Effective Study Groups

- The group should contain no more than 6 members.
- There should be a group leader at every study session. It does not have to be the same person every time.
- All members should participate. Information is more easily remembered when it is discussed with others.
- Group members should differ in their area of expertise. This will allow for more effective information sharing.

Starting a Study Group: The first meeting

- Gather the group members together for an initial meeting.
- Have the group decide on a leader. This can be for every study session or it can rotate.
- Ask someone to scribe the information the group covers. This responsibility can also revolve.
- Set some ground rules (i.e. be courteous to others). You may find these rules will not need to be referenced once they are created but they are an effective tool in preventing future conflicts.
- Create a plan for the sessions. This includes setting up a schedule, topics to be covered, and group member responsibilities.
- Summarize the information that was covered in the meeting to ensure all members are on the same page.

Conducting the Study Group

- Clearly define what will be studied prior to each group session.
- Plan to hold the study group for about 2 hours, taking period breaks.
- Start each meeting by briefly reviewing what was studied last meeting and resolving anything that was unclear.
- Keep the group on-task by limiting other activities during the session (e.g., turn phones off, no checking email, limit side conversations).
- Conclude with a brief review of what was covered and a reminder of what will be covered in the next meeting.

Additional Study Tips

- Be sure you are studying from the correct source material. Check all sources (and their edition/publication dates) against the reading list.
- Determine a study schedule that works best for you. This might include finding the best time of day for you to study. Individuals have an optimal time of the day where they can focus best on information—determine when this occurs for you. Don't try to study when you are tired.
- Find a quiet location where you can focus your efforts and energy. This location should be free from distractions.
- Set aside time each day for preparation and begin your preparation early. While many individuals will spend more time later in the study period, this should not give you license to "cram" at the last minute!
- Take notes and highlight important areas as you study and prepare for the examination. You should then go back and review this material closer to the test date. You might wish to write main topics and concepts down on index cards. You can then "study" or refer to these index cards closer to the examination date.

General Test-taking Strategies

There are several strategies and tips to keep in mind when taking the written test that will ensure your test score is accurate and reflects your level of knowledge about the job.

- I. **Listen carefully.** The exam administrator will provide you with complete instructions for taking the exam. Be sure that you pay close attention to all test instructions. It is extremely important that you completely understand the directions before the exam begins.
- 2. **Ask questions.** If there are instructions that you do not understand or if something is not clear, please feel free to ask the exam administrator any questions that you may have before the exam begins.
- 3. **Note start and end times.** Just before the test administrator begins the test, make a note of the time the test will actually begin and the time that the test will end.
- 4. **Keep track of time.** It is important that you keep track of your time so that you are able to pace yourself throughout the exam. You do not want to run out of time and have unanswered questions. It is important that you allot a few minutes of time to guess on unanswered questions at the end of the exam. A typical 100-item examination will have a 2 hour and 30 minute time limit. This means you must answer each question in approximately I minute and 30 seconds to ensure you complete the examination on time.
- 5. **Remain calm.** It is important that you remain calm throughout this exam so that you are able to work most effectively. You can't allow yourself to become nervous or confused by a few difficult or challenging questions. There are going to be times when you are not going to know the answer and neither will other individuals taking the exam.
- 6. **Read each question carefully.** Be sure that you understand what the question requires of you.
- 7. Try to answer the question before you look at the answer options. If you know the answer, compare it to the available choices and pick the choice closest in meaning to the answer you have in mind.
- 8. **Answer easy questions first.** It is important that you answer the easy questions first on this exam. By doing so, you will afford yourself more time to spend on the difficult questions if necessary. Seek out questions you can answer. If there are particular kinds of questions with which you feel most comfortable, answer those questions first. For example, if you are particularly good at questions in a specific content area, then find those items first and complete them.
- 9. **Don't waste time on questions you can't answer.** If you believe that you are not able to answer a question, then skip it. It is better to skip a difficult question than to spend a lot of time on it and not be able to complete other exam questions.

- 10. **Mark your exam booklet.** Mark in your exam booklet those questions that you have skipped so that you are able to come back to them later in the exam. Marking questions that you have skipped in your test booklet will help to ensure that you have answered all of the questions by the time the examination period has ended. That said, you will likely be required to place all final answers onto a separate answer sheet.
- II. Use markings in your booklet to help guide your response. You might consider using slash marks to break down complex sentences into small segments that are more easily understood. By breaking down a question into smaller parts you will be able to more easily examine all parts of the question. You might also wish to circle key words works in a sentence that make it easier when you have to find the answer. Another strategy is to underline clue words in an item stem such as some, all, every, sometimes, and, or, and related words.
- 12. **Use a process of elimination.** If a situation presents itself in which you are unable to answer a question, use a process of elimination to narrow your options. First, eliminate any answers that are clearly wrong. Then determine how you feel about the remaining choices. If you believe that some answers are more correct than others, indicate that on your exam booklet. Later in the exam, you may have an opportunity to come back to these questions and answer them without having to read the entire question again.
- 13. **Guessing.** It is important that you try to get as many points as possible on the examination. Points are given for correct answers only. Because there is no penalty (i.e., points deducted) for guessing on this exam, you should try to answer every question. By leaving yourself enough time at the end of the test to fill in unanswered questions using your "best guess," you will increase the possibility of getting a few of them correct.
- 14. **Extra time.** If you finish the exam before the time period is over, review your answers and make any changes that are necessary. Also make sure that you have marked your answers on the answer sheet correctly.

Using the Test Answer Sheet

This section describes the procedures used to fill in the answer sheet during the actual exam. All of the questions on the examination will be multiple choice. You will mark your answers on a separate answer sheet that you will be given at the examination, and detailed instructions on how to use it will be outlined for you at that time.

Things to consider when marking the answer sheet:

- Make heavy black marks that fill the rectangles (or ovals) completely.
- Erase any answers you wish to change completely.
- Do not make any other marks on the answer sheet.
- You must use a #2 pencil (this will be provided to you), unless otherwise instructed. Pencil is required to complete the answer sheet because a computer will be reading these marks.
- Place all of your answers on the answer sheet. Only answers on the answer sheet will be scored. You may use your exam booklet as scratch paper but be certain to record your answers on the answer sheet.
- Use your exam booklet for scratch paper.
- Be sure that the number of the question you are working on corresponds with the number that you fill in on the answer sheet. For example, if you are working on question 37, make sure that you fill in your answer on line 37 of the answer sheet. Periodically check yourself to make sure that your answers are in the correct spaces.
- For multiple-choice items there will be four alternatives (a, b, c and d) listed on the answer sheet for each question. Please be sure that you mark your answer in the appropriate column. You may want to go back and check your answers periodically to be sure that you have placed your answer in the correct column.

The reason that we ask you to take such care in marking your answer sheet is because errors can affect the scoring of your written examination.

Helpful Hints about the Exam

This section describes a few helpful hints to remember when preparing for the exam and in regard to answering questions on the examination.

- Exam questions are written directly from the source materials. Questions are often written "word-for-word" from the source to avoid confusion. Thus, the correct answer is also drawn directly from the source (not from subject matter expert input). In many cases, the distracters, or incorrect answers, are also drawn directly from the source. Thus, the information may "look familiar" but still be incorrect.
- Since questions are drawn directly from the source material, it is important to note that the correct answers (and hopefully your answers) will be taken directly from this source material. If there is a conflict between "how things are done in the department" and what the source indicates, the source is the deciding factor! In many cases, such items are removed during the review process. In some cases, these items remain in the examination to reinforce "how things should be done."
- Furthermore, in the rare event that two sources conflict with one another, your answer (and the correct) should come from the source indicated for that particular item. Items are often presented by the source material that they were written from. Thus, you will be informed where the item was written from.
- We attempt to avoid questions on trivial information that is not directly relevant to the job. At a minimum, you should focus your preparation efforts elsewhere. That said, some items may be more difficult and test your knowledge of the details of a particular policy.

Preparing for Test Day

Diligently studying for this exam will be the best method for ensuring your success; however, there are other considerations that can affect your performance on the day of the exam. Your attitude on the day of the exam, the test-taking strategies you use and your ability to avoid common test-taking errors will all affect the outcome of the exam. These issues are discussed in detail below.

Preparation for the exam

You will increase your chances of obtaining your best score if you spend a lot of time preparing for the exam. This includes carefully reading and studying the materials listed in the Examination Source Material list as well as this Orientation and Preparation Guide. It is also important that you avoid becoming overly anxious about the exam and implement good test-taking strategies.

Your physical well-being

Get a good night's sleep before the exam. Eat a nutritious breakfast that will provide you with energy for the day. Try to ensure that you are in the best possible condition both physically and mentally on the day of the exam. Fatigue is recognized as a serious impediment to success on a written examination.

Arrive early

Make all necessary arrangements to ensure that you arrive early at the exam site. If you are unfamiliar with the location, you may wish to investigate the location or leave even earlier. It would be wise to anticipate traffic delays in traveling to the exam site and to allocate extra travel time to ensure an early arrival even with delays. Also, some sites have limited or challenging parking and may cause you to arrive later than you'd like. Please understand that arriving later than you would like will likely cause you a great deal of stress and that this stress can interfere with your performance. More importantly, later arrivals may be prohibited based on city rules and procedures.

Confidence

The more confident you are in your abilities, the more likely you are to do well on the exam. Try to stay focused so that you don't end up misinterpreting questions or instructions. You want to take control of the exam by feeling confident in your skills. Try to relax but concentrate on the exam you are about to take.

Attitude

This exam is an opportunity for you to demonstrate that you have a grasp of the job knowledge necessary to perform successfully, and a positive attitude can have an impact on increasing your exam score. There are a few ways to fine-tune your attitude about taking this exam: Look at this exam as a challenge but try not to get "stressed out" by thinking about it too much. By using this *Orientation and Preparation Guide* and practicing your strategies, you can be more prepared for the exam.

Basic Rules Governing the Testing Process

- I. Promptness is <u>mandatory</u> for admittance to the test on the date and time scheduled. Please ensure that you arrive at the site well before the examination to avoid being late. No candidate will be admitted after the start time.
- 2. Photo identification will be needed for admittance to the test.
- 3. You may bring the following supplies to the test: #2 pencils, erasers and a watch. A small pencil sharpener and ear plugs are also allowed. Please note that if you choose to bring either a watch or ear plugs, they must be traditional. In other words, these items should not have any technological functions. If you have questions about the materials you wish to bring into the examination room, please check with a proctor when you sign in. No other supplies will be permitted at the test site. Pencils will be supplied during the administration of the written exam.
- 4. Beepers/portable phones and any other electronic or communication devices must be turned in prior to testing or left in your vehicle. We strongly suggest that you leave electronic devices in your vehicle for the duration of testing. If you choose to use an unauthorized communication device, in violation of testing guidelines, your test will be collected and considered invalid.
- 5. You will not be allowed to take any other materials with you into the examination room—this includes paperwork of <u>any</u> kind, backpacks, portfolios, etc.
- 6. Once you are seated in the classroom, you will have access to restroom facilities, though you may have to be escorted by a proctor. Once testing begins, any time taken for this purpose will be counted as test time.
- 7. You will undergo the same standardized process as all other candidates with respect to the testing process (e.g., notification, instructions, etc.).
- 8. Due to the security measures that will be in place, only authorized candidates will be admitted to the test site.
- 9. All questions or concerns that arise during the testing process should be directed to the appropriate designated test administration staff person(s).

Post-Test Scoring, Review & Appeal Processes

Immediately after the examination is completed, post-test processes will often commence. The post-test processes typically include two <u>optional</u> sessions. In the first session, you will be allowed an opportunity to conduct a *preliminary grading* of your examination. In the second optional session, you will be given an opportunity to review an examination and a copy of your answer sheet. At this time you may file any examination or item-level appeals. The following section will describe a <u>typical</u> post-test scoring, review and appeal process conducted by I/O Solutions. Please note that this process is often modified for a particular agency and that minor deviations may be in effect. All procedures will be explained on the day of the test.

Preliminary Grading Process

An unofficial grading process is utilized to meet several goals. First, it increases trust in the process by allowing candidates to immediately score their examination. Secondly, it decreases anxiety by providing immediate feedback. Finally, it facilitates an efficient appeals process immediately after the written examination. This is considered a preliminary or unofficial grading of the examination as the machine scoring, after appeals, will be considered the final and official examination score. The following steps outline a typical post-test scoring process.

- I. If you choose to stay for the post-test procedures, you will turn in your examination materials and check-out with the examination administrator. You will leave the testing area at this time and you should ensure that your communications do not interfere with those still working on the examination. You must be available to the examination administrator as the post-test process will begin shortly after the last candidate completes the examination.
- 2. Once the last candidate completes their examination (or once time expires) there will be a 15-30 minute administrative break. After approximately 15-30 minutes, all interested candidates will reconvene in the testing room. Candidates will be provided with a photocopy of their answer sheet and in some circumstances, a copy of the answer key will be provided.
- 3. The test administrator will orally review the answer key, providing the correct answer for each item in the examination. Candidates are asked to conduct an unofficial and preliminary grading of their test at this time and to document their score.
- 4. Candidates are allowed a pre-specified time period (typically 10 minutes) to determine their preliminary score.
- 5. At this time, examination materials are collected from candidates not wishing to attend the post-test review and appeal session (the second optional session). This session starts immediately after the scoring session.

Post-Test Review and Appeal Process

After the preliminary grading process, a second optional session will be held. In this session, examinees may review a copy of an examination along with a photocopy of his/her answer sheet. At this time, and this time only, candidates are allowed to submit appeals to the examination and/or examination items. While department procedures may vary, I/O Solutions will only respond to written appeals collected during this session. In addition, you will not be allowed to review your examination at a later date and file appeals at any other time. The appeals process is conducted at this time to allow for administrative efficiency. Often, human resources personnel bear a burden of scheduling and overseeing test review sessions over the course of several weeks (after the administration). This process detailed below also allows for a defined period of time in which examination appeals may be accepted and facilitates the development of a final written examination eligibility list in a timely manner. The following steps outline a typical post-test review and appeal process.

- I. After other candidates have been checked out of the examination, post-test review and appeal procedures will be presented by the examination administrator and an examination booklet will be provided. Please note that the post-test review and appeal process is considered part of the examination administration and thus is an <u>individual</u> process. You may not work with others during this process and you may not talk.
- 2. You will have a predetermined period to time (typically 60 minutes) to review an examination booklet and answer sheet. During this time you may file examination appeals.
- 3. All appeals are collected in written form and no 'verbal' appeals will be accepted.
- 4. You may bring your examination sources with you on the day of the test. While you may not bring the sources into the examination room during the actual test administration (you should leave them in your vehicle or outside the room), you may be allowed to bring sources into the post-test review process. An announcement will be made on this matter during the examination administration instructions.
- 5. Please note that you may not take out any written documentation from the post-test review process. This includes both documentation provided to you and <u>notes that you generate</u>. Thus, if your personal source materials are allowed into the post-test review process, you are forbidden from writing in these documents.
- 6. At the end of this session you will turn in any appeals you have generated. I/O Solutions will only respond to appeals generated during the official test review and appeal session. I/O responds to all appeals in writing and provides these responses to the agency

contact. The agency may form their own internal panel to review appeals and I/O's responses.

Appeal Guidelines

While any appeal may be filed, only appeals meeting specific standards will be reviewed and answered. Please review the following guidelines regarding examination appeals.

- Appeals must be specific to a particular question. Generic appeals or appeals to the "examination as a whole" will be discarded.
- Appeals must clearly state why an item is problematic and what other distracter(s) could be interpreted to be correct. If you believe that none of the response options are viable, you must clearly explain why this is the case.
 - Generic appeals related to an item will be summarily dismissed (e.g., "This item is poor")
- When possible, appeals should state where the "correct" answer is contained in the source material. Exceptions include situations where there is no correct answer according to the source material.
- Items are written such that one must choose the BEST answer from the response provided. Thus, it is not acceptable to indicate that there is a better answer not included in the response options.
- Items are written from a particular source and one must answer according to that particular source. The source from which the item is drawn is clearly articulated in the examination booklet. It is not acceptable to claim that another source material contradicts the specified examination material where the item was drawn from.
- It is not acceptable to claim that a source is incorrect. All items in a job-knowledge test are written from a particular source (not from internal SME opinions). The source is considered the "governing body of knowledge" for the examination and a particular item.
- Appeals can not specify that an item is not relevant to the rank in question. During the examination development process, an internal SME panel reviews and approves all items for the examination. As part of the validation process, SMEs rate the relevance of the items and items with low relevance ratings are removed from the examination. All items in the examination were deemed relevant and appropriate by internal SMEs.
- It is not acceptable to claim that a common department *practice* conflicts with a specified department policy included in an examination question.

It is the policy of I/O Solutions, when possible, to give credit to all candidates for acceptable examination appeals. Thus, items are rarely removed from the test. In addition, depending on the specific nature of the appeal, it may be necessary to double-key an item so that more than one answer is considered correct.

A final note regarding cut scores

Please note that a determination has yet to be made regarding cut scores for the written examination and secondary assessment processes. If cut scores are utilized in the testing process, the raw score corresponding to "minimally qualified" will be reported as 70% on a scale of 0% to 100%. That said, the raw score associated with this minimum qualified score can be above or below 70 (though typically below). This score standardization is done so that the testing procedures are in compliance with local and state laws. I/O Solutions often uses the Angoff procedure (an accepted procedure in the development of examination cut off scores) to determine the raw score equivalent to minimally qualified for the rank and this raw score would be announced the day of the written examination (e.g., a raw score of 55 points on a 100-point scale may be determined to be minimally qualified from the Angoff procedure—this score will be statistically adjusted to 70% and will represent the passing score).

Also note that it is important that the BPD have an adequate number of candidates moving forward in the promotional process and that the tests are screening for minimum qualifications (not just top performers). Thus, a decision-rule **may** be put in place such <u>either</u> the Angoff-derived cut score is utilized or the score at a particular percentile. For example, the Angoff may result in a recommendation for a cut score at the raw test score of 64. We may also have a decision-rule in place that indicates that the cut score will be either the Angoff-derived cut score or the score at the 50th percentile (for example). Whichever score results in more candidates passing will be utilized. Thus, if 200 people test and only 86 (43%) score at or above a raw score of 64 (which is the Angoff-derived cut score in this example), the score most closely approximating the 50th percentile would be used. Thus, percentiles would be calculated for each score and the cut score would be selected that approximates the 50th percentile.

To define this further, consider the following example. In the example listed above, assume that 13 people receive a raw score of 65 (I raw score point above the Angoff-derived cut score) and thus 99 out of 200 candidates have a score of 65 or greater (essentially the 49.5% of the distribution). In this case, the next cut score would be considered as this score did not result in a score at the 50th percentile (however close this result was). Now assume 11 people score 66 on the examination and thus 110 out of 200 score at or above a 66 on the test. Since the 50th percentile was not achieved with a score of 65, the raw score of 66 would be utilized. Subsequently, per New York state civil service rules, this score would be transformed statistically such that a 66 (or whatever was the chosen cut score) was equal to 70

At the time of writing, either an Angoff-derived cut score will be considered <u>or</u> a combination of the Angoff and percentile-based cut scores.

Buffalo Police Department Written Job-Knowledge Exam Source Allocation and Examination Plan: Rank of <u>Lieutenant</u>

Fian. Nank of <u>Lieutenant</u>			
Source Material	Sections Included	Location of Source	Approx. % of Exam
City of Buffalo Police Department, Manual of Procedure: Effective Date: April 28, 2017	See below	Internal source	50-60%
Supervision of Police Personnel by N.F. Iannone, M. Iannone & J.L. Bernstein, 8 th Ed.	See below	www.amazon.com Available in paperback and discounted for e-book; also available for rental as well through Amazon	20-25%
Good to Great Policing: Application of Business Management Principles in the Public Section PERF/ U.S. DOJ—Wexler, Wycoff & Fischer, 2007	All	https://perf.memberclicks.net /free-online-documents	5-6%
Legitimacy & Procedural Justice: A New Element of Police Leadership PERF, 2014	All	https://perf.memberclicks.net /free-online-documents	4-5%
Critical Issues in Policing Series: Guiding Principles on Use of Force PERF, 2016	All	https://perf.memberclicks.net /free-online-documents	4-5%
Final Report on The President's Task Force on 21st Century Policing (DOJ)	Pages 1-70	https://cops.usdoj.gov/pdf/tas kforce/taskforce_ finalreport.pdf	4%
Constitutional Policing as a Cornerstone of Community Policing PERF, 2015	All	https://perf.memberclicks.net /free-online-documents	4-5%
The Police Response to Active Shooter Incidents PERF, 2014	All	https://perf.memberclicks.net /free-online-documents	2-4%

Manual of Procedures, Sections Included for study for BPD Lieutenant

CHAPTER I: ORGANIZATION: 1-2 items included from this chapter		
1.0	MISSION	
2.0	AUTHORITY	
6.0	ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE	
8.0	PATROL SERVICES	
CHAPT chapter	ER 2: AIDED AND ACCIDENT CASES: 3-4 items included from this	
1.0	MOTOR VEHICLE ACCIDENTS - GENERALLY	
2.0	MEMBERS DUTIES - GENERALLY	
3.0	EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES	
6.0	VEHICLE TOWING AND STORAGE	
8.0	DANGEROUS CONDITIONS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS	
9.0	SICK AND INJURED PERSON	
10.0	INCIDENTS INVOLVING ANIMALS	
11.0	DEAD HUMAN BODY	
12.0	MEDICAL EXAMINER	
14.0	FOUND CHILDREN AND FOUND ADULTS (AMNESIA VICTIMS)	
15.0	MISSING PERSONS AND RUNAWAYS	
16.0	CHILD ABUSE/NEGLECT	
CHAPT	ER 3: ARRESTS: 10-12 items included from this chapter	
1.0	POWER AND AUTHORITY TO ARREST	
2.0	CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEES	
3.0	INTERROGATIONS	

4.0	SEARCHES AND SEIZURES	
6.0	USE OF FORCE	
7.0	TRANSPORTING PRISONERS AFTER ARREST	
8.0	ARREST BOOKING PROCEDURES	
12.0	ARRESTS for DWI/DWAI	
13.0	DOMESTIC VIOLENCE INCIDENTS	
14.0	ORDERS OF PROTECTION	
15.0	ADDITIONAL BOOKING PROCEDURES IN PARTICULAR CASES	
17.0	JUVENILE OFFENDERS	
16.0	MENTALLY ILL	
18.0	ARREST WARRANTS	
CHAPT	ER 4: PRISONERS: 2-3 items included from this chapter	
1.0	CITY COURT LOCK-UP	
2.0	ARRESTING OFFICER RESPONSIBILITY	
3.0	SEARCHING PRISONERS IN THE CELLBLOCK	
4.0	FINGERPRINTING AND PHOTOGRAPHING PRISONERS	
5.0	FEMALE PRISONERS	
6.0	JUVENILES	
Α	APPENDIX A – SEARCHES	
CHAPTER 5: EVIDENCE: 7-9 items included from this chapter		
1.0	EVIDENCE	
2.0	PROCESSING EVIDENCE AT THE CRIME SCENE	
3.0	SUBMITTING EVIDENCE FOR TESTING AND STORAGE	
4.0	TRANSFERRING EVIDENCE	

6.0 FI	IREARMS, WEAPONS AND AMMUNITION		
7.0 D	PRUGS AND DRUG PARAPHERNALIA		
9.0 SF	PECIAL PROCEDURES FOR PARTICULAR ITEMS OF EVIDENCE		
CHAPTER	CHAPTER 6: COURTS: 1-2 items included from this chapter		
2.0 St	UBPOENAS		
3.0 C	COURT ISSUED SUMMONSES IN CRIMINAL CASES		
4.0 H	IANDLING ORDERS OF PROTECTION		
6.0 A	RRESTING OFFICERS		
CHAPTER	R 7: TRAFFIC: 1-2 items included from this chapter		
2.0 H	IEAVY SNOW CONDITIONS		
4.0 T	RAFFIC ENFORCEMENT		
CHAPTER	R 8: PATROL: 6-8 items included from this chapter		
1.0 T	THE PATROL DIVISION		
2.0 D	DISTRICT LIEUTENANTS		
3.0 D	OUTIES OF PATROL OFFICERS- GENERALLY		
4.0 PI	RELIMINARY INVESTIGATION		
5.0 T	YPES OF PATROL		
6.0 M	1OTORIZED PATROL		
7.0 R	ESPONDING TO CALLS		
8.0 B	ANK ALARM RESPONSE PLAN		
9.0 PC	OLICE PURSUIT		
10.0 C	CAR STOPS		

CHAPTER 9: COMMUNICATIONS AND RECORDS: 2-3 items included from this chapter		
2.0	DISSEMINATION OF DEPARTMENT RECORDS	
3.0	STORAGE AND DISPOSAL OF DEPARTMENT RECORDS	
5.0	POLICE REPORTS	
8.0	COMPUTERIZED INFORMATION SYSTEMS	
9.0	RADIO COMMUNICATIONS	
CHAPTER 10: WORK HOURS, VACATIONS, TIME OFF, RECORD KEEPING: 1-2 items included from this chapter		
5.0	VACATIONS	
9.0	ADDITIONAL EMPLOYMENT	
_	ER II: PUBLIC ASSEMBLAGES AND EMERGENCIES: 6-9 items I from this chapter	
1.0	PUBLIC ASSEMBLAGES	
4.0	MASS DEMONSTRATIONS	
5.0	FIRES	
6.0	DISASTER RESPONSE	
7.0	EMERGENCY MOBILIZATION PLAN	
8.0	RIOTING	
9.0	SNOW EMERGENCY	
11.0	BOMBINGS AND BOMB THREATS	
12.0	HAZARDOUS MATERIALS	
13.0	HIGH RISK INCIDENTS	
14.0	SPECIAL WEAPONS AND TACTICS UNIT (SWAT)	
15.0	CRISIS MANAGEMENT TEAM (CMT) (also referred to as the Dignitary protection Unit)	

17.0	MUTUAL AID
CHAPT chapter	ER 12: UNIFORMS AND EQUIPMENT: 1-2 items included from this
2.0	TYPES OF UNIFORMS
7.0	PERSONAL APPEARANCE
CHAPT	TER 13: LEAVES AND INJURED ON-DUTY: 1-3 items included from this
chapter	-
2.0	FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT POLICY
5.0	MONITORING SICK AND INJURED MEMBERS
7.0	PREGNANCY, CHILDBIRTH AND RELATED MEDICAL CONDITIONS
8.0	EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (EAP)
9.0	DRUG TESTING OF SWORN MEMBERS
	ER 14: COOPERATION WITH OTHER AGENCIES: 1-2 items included is chapter
1.0	COOPERATION WITH OTHER AGENCIES
8.0	NEWS MEDIA
12.0	COOPERATING WITH OTHER LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES INVOLVED IN PERSONNEL INVESTIGATIONS
CHAPT chapter	ER 15: DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE: 2-3 items included from this
1.0	DISCIPLINE - GENERALLY
3.0	INVESTIGATING COMPLAINTS AND VIOLATIONS
6.0	PREVENTING DISCRIMINATION BASED ON RACE, COLOR, RELIGION, SEX OR NATIONAL ORIGIN IN THE WORKPLACE
7.0	PREVENTING SEXUAL HARASSMENT IN THE WORKPLACE
CHAPT	ER 17: INVESTIGATIONS: 2-3 items included from this chapter
1.0	RESPONSIBILITY FOR INVESTIGATIONS

5.0	SEARCHES AND SEIZURES
7.0	CRIME SCENE TECHNICIAN
23.0	EXTRADITION
24.0	TASK FORCES

Supervision of Police Personnel, Sections Included for study for BPD Lieutenant

#	Chapter Title	Approx. # of items
I	The Supervisor's Role	2-4
2	The Supervisor's Function in the Organization, Administration and Management	2-3
3	Leadership, Supervision, and Command Presence	2-4
5	Interpersonal Communications	2-3
7	Some Psychological Aspects of Supervision	2-3
8	Special Problems in Counseling and Remediation	2-3
9	Employee Dissatisfaction and Grievances	2-3
10	Discipline: Principles, Policies and Practices	2-3
П	Personnel Complaint Investigation Procedures and Techniques	2-3
13	Tactical Deployment of Field Forces	2-3
	TOTAL	20-25, total

^{*}Please note that the information included in the tables in this document are approximations to aid in your preparation. There may be deviations to these totals once exam development begins and once the examination is finalized for printing.